**RECEIVED**

**Oct 29 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2024-000794**

---

Kenneth S. Hoffman, Linda J. Hoffman.  
Harold W. Walters, Terrence Whitlock, and  
Barrie Whitlock, .....Appellants,

v.

Saad Holdings, LLC, and Carl L. Jones, as Personal  
Representative of the Estate of Anne E. Jones, deceased,.....Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Daniel L. Draisen, SC Bar # 13536  
2006 Main Street  
Anderson, SC 29621  
Phone: (864) 888-8887  
Attorney for Appellants

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

**I. Whether the trial court erred in failing to hold that the restrictive covenants in this matter restricting use of any lot in the subdivision to “residential purposes” are clear and unambiguous?**

**II. Whether the trial court erred in failing to determine and to declare what constitutes “residential purposes” for use of property in the subdivision as set forth in the restrictive covenants?**

**III. Whether the trial court erred in determining that Respondents’ use of their property “to walk across his lot to access his boat docks” is a use of the lot for other than residential purposes in violation of the restrictive covenants?**

**IV. Whether the trial court erred in holding that interpreting the restrictive covenants in the manner sought by the Plaintiffs (i.e., according to their plain meaning - that lots are to be used for residential purposes only) that make certain uses of the property impermissible [not “impossible” as the trial court concludes] violates public policy and would unreasonably interfere with free use of property?**

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a dispute between the parties regarding certain lots in Providence Point subdivision located in Anderson County, South Carolina, all of such lots being subject to residential restrictive covenants, and whether the uses being made by the Respondents of their lots are in violation of the restrictive covenants.

Appellants filed suit against the Respondents on September 29, 2022. (Summons and Complaint, R. p. 59). Appellants sought a declaratory judgment as to the rights of the parties pursuant to certain residential restrictive covenants, sought a declaration that the Respondents' use of their property to a) obtain boat dock permits from the US Army Corps of Engineers, b) to provide utility service to the docks, and c) to use the property for parking vehicles and to access the boat docks violates the restrictive covenants that restrict use of property in the subdivision to "residential purposes," and sought an injunction prohibiting Respondents from using their property other than for residential purposes.

On November 2, 2022, Respondents filed their Answer and Counterclaim (Answer and Counterclaim, R. p. 82). Respondents sought a declaratory judgment that their use(s) of the property are not in violation of the restrictive covenants, or that compliance with the restrictive covenants has been waived. The Appellants filed their Reply to the Counterclaim on November 7, 2022 (Reply to Counterclaim, R. p. 87) denying Respondents' assertions and reiterating the allegations of their Complaint.

On January 22, 2024, Appellants filed their Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that there were no questions of material fact regarding Respondents' uses of their property being in violation of the restrictive covenants and that Appellants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment with exhibits, R. p. 91) On January 23, 2024,

Respondents filed their cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, likewise asserting that there were no questions of material fact regarding Respondents' uses of their property and that Respondents were entitled to judgment as a matter of law (Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 164). Respondents filed their Memorandum of Law with exhibits on March 29, 2024. (Defendants' Memorandum of Law with exhibits, R. p. 165)

This matter was tried by non-jury bench trial on April 9, 2024, in Oconee, South Carolina. The case originated in Anderson, SC and the parties agreed, due to scheduling reasons, to have the case heard in Oconee County. The parties' motions for Summary Judgment were dispensed with and incorporated by reference during oral arguments at the trial, and all exhibits were admitted into evidence without objection. In addition, the depositions of party witnesses were submitted and admitted into evidence. The parties each were given an opportunity to state their respective positions and the applicable law, after which the trial court took the matter under advisement before issuing its ruling.

On April 26, 2024, the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse issued an Order holding, among other things, that Respondent's boat docks are not violations of the Providence Point subdivision restrictive covenants as they are attached to the shoreline which is owned by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; that Respondents' walking across their lots to access these boat docks is not a violation of the restrictive covenants; that interpreting the restrictive covenants in the manner sought by the Appellants would lead to an absurd result that violates public policy in that it would unreasonably interfere with the free use of property; that there is no evidence that Respondents' current use of their lots would constitute a nuisance or other violation of the Providence Point subdivision restrictive covenants; and denying Appellants' request for an injunction and Respondents' counterclaims for attorney fees and costs. (Order, April 26, 2024, R. p. 1)

Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend Judgment on May 1, 2024, pursuant to Rules 59 and 60, SCRCP. (Motion to Reconsider, R. p. 195). The grounds for the motion were, *inter alia*, the same issues raised herein on appeal. The trial court denied Appellants' Motion to Reconsider without a hearing and issued a Form 4CE Order on May 2, 2024. (Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider. R. p. 12) This appeal followed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 23, 2021, by deed from Carl L. Jones, recorded on September 1, 2021, in Book 15569 at Page 106 in the Register of Deeds office for Anderson County, South Carolina, the Defendant, SAAD Holdings, LLC, acquired ownership of and title to the property identified as:

**All those certain pieces, parcels, or lots of land situate, lying, and being in the State of South Carolina, County of Anderson, being shown and designated as Lot Number One (1), containing 5,598 square feet, Lot Number Two (2), containing 2,595 square feet, and Lot Number Three (3), containing 4,173 square feet, as shown on a plat prepared by Nu-South Surveying, Inc., Earl B. O'Brien, RLS No. 10755, dated July 9, 2014, revised June 23, 2021, and recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina, in Plat Slide 52830 at Page 6, and having the metes and bounds, courses and distances as upon said plat appear and being incorporated herein by reference thereto.**

**This being the same property conveyed unto Carl L. Jones and Anne E. Jones by deed of James W. Reed dated April 26, 1991, recorded May 1, 1991, in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina, in Book 1167 at Page 186. Anne E. Jones died testate on June 19, 2008, devising her interest in said property unto her husband, Carl L. Jones. See Probate Judgment Roll Number 2021ES04 \_\_\_\_\_ in the Office of the Probate Court for Anderson County, South Carolina.**

(R. p. 203)

The Title to Real Estate from Jones to SAAD expressly states:

**This conveyance is specifically made subject to those certain Restrictions of record in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina, in Deed Book 15-Q at Page 468, and amended in Book 3847 at Page 285, and is further subject to any and all recorded rights-of-way, easements, conditions, restrictions, and zoning ordinances pertaining to said premises, and is subject to any of the foregoing which may appear from an inspection of the premises.**

On or about September 1, 2021, Defendant SAAD Holdings, LLC recorded a new Plat (referenced in the aforementioned Deed) prepared by Nu-South Surveying, Inc., Earl B. O'Brien, RLS# 10755, dated July 9, 2014, approved by Development Standards on July 28, 2021, and

recorded on September 1, 2021, in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina, in Plat Slide 2830 at Page 6, that subdivides the originally designated Lot 21, Providence Point, into Lot 1, Lot 2, and Lot 3. (R. p. 206)

The Covenants (of Providence Point subdivision) referenced in the Title to Real Estate provide, in pertinent part, the following:

**LAND USE AND BUILDING TYPE:**

**No lot shall be used for other than residential purposes. No residential building shall be erected, altered, placed or permitted to remain on any lot other than one detached single family dwelling not to exceed two stories in height and a private garage for not more than two cars.**

(R. p. 209)

The Amendment to the Covenants (adopted in August 2000, **twenty-one (21) years before SAAD acquired its Lots**), while they amend or alter other provisions of the Covenants, do not change the provisions as set forth above in the original Restrictive Covenants related to residential use of the property; however, the following is added:

**(i) No residence shall be constructed closer than twenty (20) feet to the front lot line, front lot line being defined as that line bordering public street, nor nearer than ten (10) feet to any side lot line.**

(R. p. 213)

Greg Saad of SAAD Holdings, LLC made application for and on January 1, 2022, received Permit# 13328 for a 26' by 24' dock with a 4' by 60' gangwalk and on August 1, 2022 received Permit# 13390 for a 26' by 24' dock with a 4' by 60' gangwalk from the US Army Corps of Engineers for boat docks to be used in conjunction with the renumbered lots, Lot 1, Lot 2, and Lot 3. (R. p. 216)

In addition, SAAD Holdings, LLC has run power and other utilities to one or more of the renumbered Lots 1, 2, and 3. (R. p. 223)

The renumbered lots, Lot 1, Lot 2, and Lot 3, *each* are not large enough for the owners to construct a single-family residence upon that would meet the minimum square footage and setback requirements of the Restrictive Covenants, as amended.

In their Complaint, Plaintiffs assert that the Defendants' intention is to make use of Lot 1, Lot 2, and Lot 3 for primarily or solely *recreational* purposes and not for residential purposes as required by the Restrictive Covenants. In fact, Defendants admit that their intended use of the Lots is to gain access to the boat docks.

In response to Request for Admissions, numbers 11 - 20, the Defendants admit that they are not using their property in Providence Point subdivision for any residential purposes as follows:

11. Since receipt of the written notice from the Plaintiffs, the Defendants have continued to develop and to make improvements to their Lots.

**Answer: Denied. Defendants have never built any structures on the Lots in question.**

12. Defendants do use and intend to use Lot 1, Lot 2, and Lot 3 as a means of access to boat docks that have been permitted adjacent to each lot.

**Answer: Admit**

13. Defendants, when using Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3 to access boat docks adjacent to each Lot, drive to the Lot(s), park a vehicle or vehicles on the Lots while at the property.

**Answer: Admit**

14. Defendants are using Lot 1, Lot 2, and Lot 3, to provide utilities and/or other services to each Lot.

**Answer: This request requires clarification in order to be admitted or denied. Defendants do not understand the question.**

15. Defendants do not use Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3 for any residential purposes.  
**Answer: Defendants admit that there is no residence or any other structure located on the Lots.**
16. Defendants do not receive mail at Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3.  
**Answer: Admit**
17. Defendants do not list Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3 as their residential address on their driver's licenses.  
**Answer: Admit**
18. Defendants have not registered to vote as residents of Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3.  
**Answer: Admit**
19. Defendants have not enrolled any children in school on the basis of residing on Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3.  
**Answer: Admit**
20. Defendants have not relocated their household furniture and furnishings to Lot 1, Lot 2, or Lot 3.  
**Answer: Admit**

(R. p. 236)

In his deposition, Gregory Saad admits that his intended use of the property is not for residential purposes, but is "to enjoy the lake" as follows:

47

18 Q. Okay. All right. Okay.

19 I think you answered this in the very  
20 long answer that you gave me, so I don't want to  
21 try to rehash this, but I want to make sure I  
22 understood it. So I'm going to ask you a real

23 simple question.

24 What's your intended use of the

25 property, as we sit here today? What are you

48

1 intending to use the property for?

2 A. To enjoy the lake.

3 Q. And so what is it you intend to do with

4 the property itself?

5 A. Walk across it to get to the dock.

6 Q. Okay.

7 So you have no intentions of building

8 on it?

9 A. Can't.

10 Q. Okay.

11 No intentions of --

12 A. Well, I shouldn't say can't. I don't

13 know how legal that is. Okay. But probably too

14 long now and all the legal stuff with all that.

15 Okay.

16 Q. Well, I'm just asking you what your

17 intentions are.

18 A. My intentions are to continue to use

19 the property, to have a place for our boat and our

**20 dock and our kids and we can go out there and enjoy**

**21 the water, and that's it.**

(R. pp. 242, line 18 to 243, line 21)

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Declaratory judgment actions are neither legal nor equitable. Wiedemann v. Town of Hilton Head Island, 344 S.C. 233, 236, 542 S.E.2d 752, 753 (Ct. App. 2001). The character of an action as legal or equitable depends on the relief sought. Cedar Cove Homeowners Ass'n v. DiPietro, 368 S.C. 254, 258, 628 S.E.2d 284, 286 (Ct. App. 2006). An action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is an equitable action. South Carolina Dep't of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001). In an action in equity, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the evidence. *Id.*

Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature and rules of contract interpretation apply. Hardy v. Aiken, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006)." Interpreting restrictive covenants is an action at law. Barnacle Broad., Inc. v. Baker Broad., Inc., 343 S.C. 140, 146, 538 S.E.2d 672, 675 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding that interpretation of a contract is an action at law). In an action at law tried without a jury, the appellate court standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law. Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). Thus, the trial court's factual findings regarding interpretation of the contract will not be disturbed on appeal unless a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonably supports the court's findings. Barnacle Broad., Inc., 343 S.C. at 146, 538 S.E.2d at 675.

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in failing to find that the restrictive covenants in this matter restricting use of any lot in the subdivision to “residential purposes” are clear and unambiguous.**

The trial court, in its Order, makes no finding as to whether the restrictive covenants at issue in this matter are vague or ambiguous. Appellants assert that the provision of the restrictive covenants at issue in this matter are, in fact, clear and unambiguous. The provision states as follows:

**LAND USE AND BUILDING TYPE:**

**No lot shall be used for other than residential purposes. No residential building shall be erected, altered, placed or permitted to remain on any lot other than one detached single family dwelling not to exceed two stories in height and a private garage for not more than two cars.**

The covenants expressly state that “No lot shall be used for other than residential purposes.” (Restrictive Covenants, R. p. 209) Appellants argue that this provision of the restrictions is not capable of more than one meaning or interpretation, and that it is clear in its intent and purpose. The developer of Providence Point, a residential neighborhood at its inception, intended the lots in the neighborhood to be limited to use for residential purposes only.

The S.C. Court of Appeals in Kinard v. Richardson, held as follows:

“Words of a restrictive covenant will be given the common, ordinary meaning attributed to them at the time of their execution.” Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1, 4, 498 S.E.2d 862, 863 (1998). “[T]he paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as determined from the whole document.” [754 S.E.2d 894] *Id.* at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 863–64 (quotation marks omitted). When “the language imposing restrictions upon the use of property is unambiguous, the restrictions will be enforced according to their obvious meaning.” Shipyard Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Mangiaracina, 307 S.C. 299, 308, 414 S.E.2d 795, 801 (Ct.App.1992). “A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable

implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.” Taylor, 332 S.C. at 5, 498 S.E.2d at 864 (citation and quotation marks omitted). However, this rule of strict construction “ **‘should not be applied so as to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument.’** ” McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d at 302 (quoting Taylor, 332 S.C. at 4–5, 498 S.E.2d at 863–64).

[In Kinard] Paragraph five of the Restrictive Covenants prohibits any use other than single-family residential use. “**Single-family residential use**” involves the act of residing in a **single-family dwelling**. See Easterly, 256 S.C. at 342–44, 182 S.E.2d at 674 (interpreting a restriction providing that no structure “shall be erected upon any of [the] residential lots other than one single family private dwelling house” and stating, “No apartment house or duplex of any type shall be erected or maintained on any of the lots” **and holding that the general plan of the residential neighborhood had been maintained since its inception because only single family dwellings had been erected on the lots (emphases added)**); Maxwell v. Smith, 228 S.C. 182, 193–94, 89 S.E.2d 280, 285 (1955) (interpreting a covenant restricting use of lots to “residential purposes” and stating that a lake stocked with minnows and pools holding minnows for ultimate sale in a nearby city were elements of a commercial installation in violation of the covenant); *id.* at 194–95, 89 S.E.2d at 286 (**holding that even if the commercial use stopped, the lake and pools were on vacant lots and, therefore, must be viewed as “not incident to residential use”**). Kinard v. Richardson, 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2014).

Accordingly, the trial court should have first determined whether the covenants at issue are vague or ambiguous, analyzed what the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument was (i.e., to restrict lot use to residential purposes only), and then made a determination as to whether Respondents’ use of their property comports with these restrictions. Appellants assert that the

restrictive covenants at issue in this matter are not vague or ambiguous, that they are not capable of more than one meaning, that the covenants clearly restrict the use of any lot to residential purposes only, and that the trial court erred in not holding as such.

**II. The trial court erred in failing to determine and to declare what constitutes “residential purposes” for use of property as set forth in the restrictive covenants.**

Appellants assert that the trial court erred in not determining and declaring what “residential purposes” means in the context of the restrictive covenants at issue in this matter. That is, the trial court did not expressly find what use for “residential purposes” is as required by the covenants.

Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature. Hoffman v. Cohen, 262 S.C. 71, 75, 202 S.E.2d 363, 365 (1974). The language of a restrictive covenant is to be construed according to the plain and ordinary meaning attributed to it at the time of execution. Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 864. Restrictions on the use of property will be strictly construed with all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property, although the rule of strict construction should not be used to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the restrictive covenants. Taylor at S.C. 1, 4, S.E.2d 862, 863 (1998).

Appellants assert that “recreational” and “residential” are separate and distinct terms with independent meanings, and that recreational use and residential use are not the same. Residential is an adjective relating to the noun “residence.”

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