RECEIVED

Nov 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000794

Kenneth S. Hoffman, Linda J. Hoffman,
Harold W. Walters, Terrence Whitlock, and
Barrie Whitlock Appellants

v.

Saad Holdings, LLC, and Carl L. Jones, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Anne E. Jones, deceased Respondents..

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

PRUITT & PRUITT

Joshua B. Raffini
SC Bar No. 101338
101 North Murray Avenue
Anderson, South Carolina 29625
(864) 224-3121
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

In this case, Appellants sought- and still seek- to prevent Respondents from having any use of their property. In support, they urged the Trial Court- and now this Court- to find the applicable covenants unambiguously prohibit use of property unless the owner resides thereon. The covenants contain no such requirements. This Court, like the Trial Court, should refuse to adopt an unreasonable interpretation not required by language in the covenants, not supported by any authority in this State, and that- if adopted- would constitute such an unreasonable interference with property use in violation of public policy.

The record is clear and largely undisputed. The parties simply disagree as to the implication of agreed facts. However, abundant authority supports the decision of the Trial Court. First, the Trial Court was correct to find that the covenants, as interpreted by Appellants, would violate public policy. Second, the Trial Court was correct to decline invitation by Appellants to make unnecessary findings in support of its holding. Finally, the Trial Court correctly refused to adopt Appellants' view which was contradicted by their own testimony and argument.

1. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that the Covenants, as interpreted by Appellants, would Violate Public Policy

Restrictive covenants in residential real estate are contracts. As such, covenants must be construed as contracts whereby the court affords language its plain and ordinary meaning.³ However, restrictive covenants are also historically disfavored, emanating

³ See generally *Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. 1, 498 S.E.2d (1998).

“from the widely held view that society's best interests are advanced by encouraging the free and unrestricted use of land.” *Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells*, 294 S.C. 266, 363 S.E.2d 891 (1987) (additional citation omitted).

Thus, to enforce a restrictive covenant, a party must show that the restriction applies to the property either by the covenant's express language or by a plain unmistakable implication. [additional citations omitted]. The rule of strict construction governing restrictive covenants does not preclude their enforcement. A restrictive covenant will be enforced if the covenant expresses the party's intent or purpose, and this rule will not be used to defeat the clear express language of the covenant.[additional citations omitted]. [A] restrictive covenant is a voluntary contract between the parties. Courts shall enforce such covenants unless they are indefinite or **contravene public policy**. *Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells*, 294 S.C. 266, 363 S.E.2d 891 (S.C. 1987) (emphasis added).

In this case, Respondents do not challenge the covenants. Similarly, Respondents have never argued that the applicable covenants, as written, violate public policy. Respondents argue, and the Trial Court found, that the interpretation of the subject covenants urged by Appellants- if adopted- would violate public policy. (R. p. 6, Order at p. 6).⁴ If Appellants prevail, a property owner subject to similar covenants would be compelled to build a residence merely to enjoy the same rights as his neighbors subject to the same covenants. If Appellants prevail, an unbuildable lot in a development restricted to “residential purposes” would be an unusable lot. Furthermore, should the Court adopt Appellants’ position, a potential owner of property subject to similar restrictive covenants would be compelled to make immediate plans to build- or

⁴ As the Trial Court explained, Appellants (Plaintiffs below) took the position that “any use of an of any empty subdivision lot other than maintenance would constitute an impermissible use under the restrictive covenants.” (R. ____, Order at p. 4). Appellants specifically argued that mere walking across property, picnics, or even birdwatching would constitute a hobby or recreation and thus- in their view- violate the residential purposes restriction of the Covenants.

face exclusion from his own property based on Appellants' view of "residential purposes." That view, and not the language of the covenants, would lead to absurd results in contravention of public policy.

In support of their position, Appellants hardly argue to the contrary. Instead, Appellants provide multiple citations in support of the undisputed proposition that residential purposes exclude commercial use.⁵ Similarly, single-family use clearly prohibits multi-family usage.⁶ The overriding issue is not contractual interpretation, ambiguity, or disputed facts. Rather, this case involves attempts to impose unusual interpretations of common covenants beyond the bounds of plain language, common sense, or precedent. As this Court has previously explained,

Common sense and good faith are the leading touchstones of the construction of a contract[,] and contracts are to be so construed as to avoid an absurd result. Where one construction would make a contract unusual or extraordinary and another, equally consistent, would make the contract reasonable, fair[,] and just, the latter construction will prevail. *Floyd v. Dross*, 442 S.C. 79, 897 S.E.2d 191, 198 (Ct.App. 2024) (additional citations omitted).

In this case, the dispute between the parties arose when Appellants sought to impose requirements beyond the plain language of restrictive covenants and application of terms afforded their ordinary usage. Under the circumstances, the Trial Court correctly held that such an interpretation would violate public policy.

Respondents do not challenge application of covenants generally or the specific

⁵ See *Kinard v. Richardson*, 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding commercial grazing lease beyond residential use); *Maxwell v. Smith*, 228 S.C. 182, 89 S.E.2d (1955) (holding that construction of commercial structures to support off-site business violated residential use restrictions even where commercial operation ceased but commercial accoutrements remained).

⁶ See *Easterly v. Hall*, 256 S.C. 336, 182 S.E.2d 671 (1971) (enforcing covenants restricting property to single-family use to prohibit completion of duplex if occupied by more than one family).

covenants in this case. Rather, Respondents agree with the Trial Court: the extreme and unwarranted interpretation urged by Appellants would lead to enforcement that contravenes public policy in conflict with precedent.

2. The Trial Court did Not err in Declining to make Unnecessary Findings in support its Holding.

The Order below is well-supported. Appellants allege error by identifying proposed findings the Trial Court did not make. Each is without merit.

a. The Trial Court did Not Need to Reach the Question of Ambiguity

The relevant portions of applicable covenants in this case contain common provisions related to the residential character of the development and prohibiting typical nuisances. As an initial matter, Respondents would note they have not challenged the covenants as ambiguous. Respondents have simply, and consistently, argued that their conduct does not violate any provision of the restrictive covenants.

"A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are reasonably susceptible of more than one interpretation.'..." *Cnty. Servs. Assocs., Inc. v. Wall*, 421 S.C. 575, 583, 808 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2017). "Thus, 'a restriction on the use of the property must be created in express terms or by plain and *unmistakable* implication.'" *Id.* (emphasis in original) (*quoting Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980). In construing such contractual language our courts seek to ascertain and "give effect to the intent of the parties as determined **from the whole document.**" *Wall*, 421 S.C. at 582.

In this case, Appellants base their entire case on the single sentence limiting use of lots within the development to "residential purposes." (R. p. 176, Restrictive Covenants). The remainder of the same paragraph within the covenants more fully describes the nature

of permissible residences. Subsequent sections of the covenants prohibit nuisances, including- but not limited to- commercial usage. These restrictions, as a whole, protect the general nature of the development to ensure fulfillment of the ostensible purpose of planned, uniform development.

Appellants urge that the covenants are unambiguous, and that Respondents are in violation. Ironically, to the extent of any ambiguity, such confusion is created and exacerbated by Appellants. In arguing that “residential purposes” and related language does more than restrict commercial activities, Appellants seek to have the Court amend the covenants and add requirements for property owners to build residences. Such a requirement does not appear in the covenants. In order to reach such a conclusion, the trial court would have been required to find a latent ambiguity, and to then conclude that Appellant’s preferred interpretation prevailed: to wit, that any “residential purpose” requires erection of a residence.

In *Kinard v. Richardson*, this Court confronted commercial use of property restricted to residential purposes. 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888 (Ct.App. 2014). In that case, applicable covenants restricted uses to residential purposes but specifically allowed horses. *Id.* One property owner leased a portion of their property to an equestrian center for grazing horses, which the Court found violated the covenants. The Court concluded “[i]n sum, the Restrictive Covenants, deeds, and plats clearly and unambiguously show Developers’ intent to maintain a residential neighborhood and to exclude commercial activities from the neighborhood.” *Id.* at 895.⁷

⁷ The same Court explained, specific to the language of the covenants at issue, that “‘Single-family residential use’ involves the act of residing in a single-family dwelling...” *Kinard*, 754 S.E.2d 888 at 898.

Neither the Trial Court nor this Court need reach the question of ambiguity. The Court should simply discount Appellants' selective reading and attempts to introduce additional requirements, efforts which only serve to create the ambiguity they eschew.

b. The Trial Court Did Not Need to Define "Residential purposes"

The covenants at issue in this case do not specifically define residential purposes. The Trial Court did not define or specifically delineate examples of residential purposes. However, as Appellants urged an interpretation that would lead to an absurd result, the Trial Court was not required to reach the issue. Seeking to remedy this perceived error, Appellants argue that "residential" and "recreational" are separate and distinct. As a matter of dictionary definitions, Appellants may correct as the words are distinct. But any perceived advantage founded on mere dictionary definitions collapses as soon as the Court considers that recreational purposes and recreational purposes overlap. Otherwise, the Court would face two (2) unsavory choices: judicial amendment to add terms to the covenants or prohibiting property owners from recreation- again an absurd result.

Appellants offer no authority beyond dictionary definitions that use of property for recreation, without building a residence, violates use limitations confined to residential purposes. Indeed, a variety of searches of South Carolina authorities yield no cases directly on point. Appellants merely assume that if they classify behaviors as solely recreational, they have created a category of use outside the scope of the covenants.

Expanding to other states for persuasive authority, multiple jurisdictions have

However, while indicating residential purposes involved residing, the Court never found that failure to build a residence remove otherwise permissible uses from the scope of residential purposes. Rather, the Court construed the restrictions as a whole to discern the unambiguous intent of the developer.

addressed the interplay between residential and recreational use. North Carolina courts have allowed municipal parking lots, in aid of recreational usage, on property restricted to residential use. *White v. Town of Emerald Isle*, 346 S.E.2d 176, 82 (N.C. App. 1986).⁸ The same court found that other jurisdictions had reached similar results. *Id.*⁹

Other jurisdictions have also addressed use of property restricted to residential purposes for constructing access to adjoining parcels. The Maryland Court of Appeals surveyed treatment of this issue from multiple jurisdictions, ultimately finding that the access road at issue in the case before that Court violated the covenants. However, that holding rested on the conclusion that the use at issue altered the planned character of the development which otherwise had only a single road. *Namleb Corp. v. Garrett*, 814 A.2d 585, 149 Md. App. 163 (Md. App. 2002). However, the same Court also found multiple examples where similar access roads were permitted residential uses based on the specific factual scenarios referenced. *Id.*¹⁰

In a particularly extreme case, Indiana confronted alleged violations of covenants restricting property to residential use where a homeowner constructed a full baseball practice area on an adjoining lot. *Bagko Development Co. v. Damitz*, 640 N.E.2d 67 (Ind. App. 1994). In that case, the homeowner installed substantial improvements and allowed a baseball team to use the constructed improvements for team practices consistent with

⁸ To be candid, the covenants at issue in that case, while limiting property to residential purposes, also specifically allowed multi-family use.

⁹ Citing cases in both Washington and New York in accord with its decision.

¹⁰ Finding that Arkansas reached the opposite result where the subject access road only served owners in the same subdivision; Nebraska permitted an access road from a restricted parcel to an unrestricted parcel, where the restrictions contained limitations to residential use; New York allowed public construction; North Carolina permitted a pathway over a restricted lot to an unrestricted lot with a recreational home. [internal citations omitted].

covenants which prohibited uses other than residential. *Id.* As that Court explained, the homeowners did not lease their property or operate a business. Where the applicable covenants did not define the term "residential purposes", the court explained that "[r]esidential use is distinguishable from commercial or business use" and serves to "merely limit the use of the property to living purposes as distinguished from business or commercial purposes." *Id.* [additional citations omitted].

In the closest parallel to the facts of the instant case, New Hampshire Courts confronted allegations that use of an unimproved lot to access a dock, and thereafter a private island, violated residential purpose covenant restrictions. *Voedisch v. Town of Wolfeboro* 136 N.H. 91, 612 A.2d 902, 905 (1992).¹¹ In that case, other property owners alleged that use of an otherwise vacant lot solely for dock access violated residential use restrictions. *Id.* The court disagreed, explaining "[g]enerally covenants restricting the use of property to 'residential purposes' merely limit the use of the property to living purposes as distinguished from business or commercial purposes. [additional citation omitted]. The trial court found that the **use of the dock is a usual residential use, regardless of whether there is a residence on the property...**" *Id.* (emphasis added). The appellate court agreed and affirmed.

In this case, the Trial Court did not specifically define residential purposes. To the extent Appellants claim error, they have failed to identify any authority supporting similar application of their distinction between recreational and residential use. Moreover, the uses Appellants attack are the same uses permitted by other owners in the same

¹¹ While not at issue in the instant case, *Voedisch* also involved allegations of improperly dividing the subject lot and violating local land use ordinances.

development. Persuasive authority from other jurisdictions supports the finding that use of property beyond constructing, or living in, a residence is within the gambit of residential purposes.

3. The Trial Court Correctly Considered Respondents' Actual Use of His Property

The Trial Court found that Appellants' position would lead to an absurd result, in violation of public policy, as they sought to restrict walking across a vacant lot. (R. p. 1, Order). It is undisputed that Respondents obtained dock permits, and secured utilities services, by virtue of ownership of lots in Providence Point. However, the actual use of Respondents' property, as opposed to adjoining property owned by the U.S. Army Corp of Engineers, involved parking and walking across the subject lots. The Trial Court correctly considered actual use and found such use consistent with residential purposes.

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